FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/9/2018 4:48 PM
No. 96516-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 76365-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GROUP HEALTH COOPERATIVE, a Washington nonprofit corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

NATHANIEL COON and LORI COON, husband and wife,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542 Victoria E. Ainsworth WSBA No. 49677

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974 STAMPER RUBENS, P.S.

By: Michael H. Church WSBA No. 24957 Hailey L. Landrus WSBA No. 39432

720 West Boone, Suite 200 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 326-4800

Attorneys for Petitioner

A. Identity of Petitioner and Decision Below.

Petitioner Group Health Cooperative ("Group Health" or "GHO") seeks review of Division One's published August 13, 2018 decision reversing the trial court's order requiring respondents Nathaniel and Lori Coon to reimburse Group Health for \$372,634 in medical expenses after the Coons entered into a settlement with a third party without first notifying Group Health, as required by their health insurance policy. (App. A) A timely motion for reconsideration was denied on October 10, 2018. (App. B)

B. Issues Presented for Review.

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals' published decision erroneously conflate the limits on an insurer's subrogation rights when an insured has not been "made whole" by settlement with or judgment against a third-party tortfeasor with an insurer's contractual right to reimbursement when there is not a third-party tortfeasor?
- 2. When there is no concern that an insured must be "made whole" in a settlement with or judgment against a third-party tortfeasor, does the Court of Appeals' published decision erroneously expand beyond UIM coverage cases the requirement that an insurer

show prejudice before it can enforce a contractual right to reimbursement?

C. Statement of the Case.

1. Group Health paid over \$372,000 in medical expenses when Mr. Coons' leg was amputated after surgery at Everett Clinic, retaining a right to reimbursement for "any amounts" the Coons received "from any source."

Respondents Nathaniel and Lori Coon had health insurance through petitioner Group Health. (CP 409-58) After Mr. Coon underwent knee surgery at the Everett Clinic ("the Clinic") in March 2012 he developed an infection that ultimately resulted in amputation of his leg above his knee. (App. A ¶ 2; CP 181, 185) Group Health paid \$372,634.07 in medical expenses for this injury under the Coons' health insurance policy. (CP 283, 287-88)

The Coons' health insurance policy gave Group Health subrogation and reimbursement rights requiring the Coons to "reimburse GHO for all benefits provided, from any amounts the Member received or is entitled to receive from any source on account of such injury or illness, whether by suit, settlement or otherwise." (CP 454) The policy required the Coons to "cooperate fully with GHO in its efforts to collect GHO's Medical Expenses," including "supplying GHO with information about the cause of injury or

illness, any potentially liable third parties, defendants and/or insurers related to the Injured Person's claim and informing GHO of any settlement or other payments relating to the Injured Person's injury" and provided that the "Injured Person...shall do nothing to prejudice GHO's subrogation and reimbursement rights":

The Injured Person shall promptly notify GHO of any tentative settlement with a third party and shall not settle a claim without protecting GHO's interest. If the Injured Person fails to cooperate fully with GHO in recovery of GHO's Medical Expenses, the Injured Person shall be responsible for directly reimbursing GHO for 100% of GHO's Medical Expenses.

(CP 454) Finally, the policy required the Coons to hold in trust any funds received "from any source that may serve to compensate for medical injuries or medical expenses" "until GHO's subrogation and reimbursement rights are fully determined." (CP 455)

2. Group Health sought reimbursement after the Coons breached their health insurance policy by settling with the Clinic for \$2 million without prior notice to Group Health.

The Clinic could not determine the source of the infection that had resulted in the amputation of Mr. Coon's leg, and the Coons were unable to find any evidence that the Clinic had breached the standard of care. (CP 145, 158-60, 172-73; App. A \P 3) The Coons concluded that, at best, they "have a *res ipsa loquitur* case" and that the chances of succeeding at trial against the Clinic "truly approached o%." (CP

145, 354) As part of a "new program designed to reduce litigation filings and provide some level of compensation to patients" (CP 355), however, the Clinic "offered mediation in the hope of reaching a final settlement without the need for litigation." (CP 161) The Clinic and the Coons settled for \$2 million, with no prior notice to Group Health, on April 25, 2014. (CP 253-59; App. A¶ 11)

The Coons notified Group Health of the settlement on April 28, 2014, when it asked Group Health to waive its reimbursement claim. (CP 253; App. A ¶ 16) Group Health did not waive its contractual rights, and requested reimbursement for the benefits it had provided under the policy. (CP 406, 482, 486) The Coons again breached the policy by disbursing the settlement funds from trust before Group Health responded and "GHO's subrogation and reimbursement rights [were] fully determined." (CP 281, 455)

3. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's order requiring the Coons to reimburse Group Health on the grounds the Clinic was not a "third-party tortfeasor."

Both parties moved for summary judgment after Group Health sought a declaratory judgment requiring the Coons to reimburse the \$372,634 Group Health had paid in medical expenses. (CP 501-05; 370-402) The trial court granted Group Health's motion, holding it had a valid and enforceable subrogation claim (CP

509-13), and denied the Coons' motion, because they had breached the contract by settling with the Clinic without notifying Group Health or protecting its subrogation interests. (CP 514-16)

The Coons appealed the order granting Group Health's motion for reimbursement, but not the order concluding they had breached the health insurance contract. (CP 506; App. A ¶ 24) In a published decision, Division One reversed. The Court of Appeals held that Group Health could not enforce its contractual right to reimbursement without first showing prejudice from the Coons' breach of the policy, and because Group Health had "not established that the Coons have a nonspeculative claim against a tortfeasor." (App. A ¶¶ 30, 37) Despite recognizing that the "Coons, the Clinic, and everyone else involved in this litigation have been unable to develop a viable theory of liability against any entity," the Court of Appeals also held that in the "absence of a judicial decision absolving the Clinic of liability," Group Health must also prove the Coons had been "made whole" before pursuing any reimbursement claim. (App. A ¶¶ 37, 42)

D. Argument Why Review Should Be Granted.

1. The Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Mahler* and *Thiringer*, and with Division One's decision in *Cook*. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4)).

Premised on a flawed interpretation of this Court's decisions in *Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d 398, 957 P.2d 632, 966 P.2d 305 (1998), and *Thiringer v. American Motors Ins. Co.*, 91 Wn.2d 215, 588 P.2d 191 (1978), Division One in this case prevented enforcement of a contractual right to reimbursement in the absence of a third-party tortfeasor. The Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts with *Mahler, Thiringer*, and *Cook v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co.*, 121 Wn. App. 844, 90 P.3d 1154 (2004), which held that *Thiringer*'s "made whole" rule does not apply where there is no third-party tortfeasor. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(1), (2), and (4) to clarify this conflict and settle a question of significant public interest: whether when there is no third-party tortfeasor an insurer's reimbursement rights are subject to the "made whole" rule limiting an insurer's subrogation rights against a tortfeasor.

a. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Mahler*.

The Court of Appeals erroneously held that if Group Health "cannot establish the existence of a negligent third party who caused its insured to incur medical expenses, this is not a subrogation case at all" (App. A¶36), by disregarding this Court's decision in *Mahler*, which makes clear that an insurer can have a contractual right to reimbursement in the absence of a third-party tortfeasor.

The "general purpose of subrogation is to facilitate placement of the financial consequences of loss on the party primarily responsible in law for such loss." Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 412 (emphasis added, quoted source omitted). The two "features" of subrogation are the right to reimbursement itself, and the "mechanism for the enforcement of the right." Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 412. The subrogee can enforce its right as a "lien against any recovery the subrogor secures from the third party" or by "standing in the shoes of its subrogor" in an action against the tortfeasor. Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 413. A subrogee has a right of reimbursement "[b]y virtue of payments made to a subrogor stemming from the actions of a third party"; thus, traditional insurance subrogation "exists only with respect to rights of the insurer against third persons to whom the insurer owes no duty." Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 413, 419 (quoted source omitted). Accordingly, "[n]o right of subrogation can arise in favor of an insurer against its own insured." Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 419 (quoted source omitted).

But this Court also recognized in *Mahler* that an insurer can have a contractual right to reimbursement from its insured separate from the traditional right to subrogation against a third party. In Mahler, State Farm sought reimbursement of benefits paid to its insured, who was injured in a car accident, after the insured settled with the negligent driver. This Court held that State Farm "simply contracted for a right to reimbursement of its PIP payments from its insureds from the proceeds of a settlement," as the policy "reserved a traditional subrogation right" to sue in its insured's shoes only when the insured fails to pursue a tortfeasor. Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 420-21 (emphasis in original). Because the "literal language" of the policy transferred "an interest in moneys after they become the property of the insured," creating "a right in the proceeds, not against the tortfeasor," this Court held that State Farm had only a "contractual right of reimbursement, not a right to subrogation." *Mahler*, 135 Wn.2d at 419-21 (quoted source omitted).

The Court of Appeals disregarded both *Mahler* and the "literal language" of the policy here. Nothing in the plain language of the health insurance policy at issue here predicates Group Health's reimbursement on the existence of a third-party tortfeasor. Group Health has the right to reimbursement from its insured "for all

benefits provided, from any amounts the Member *received* or is entitled to receive *from any source* on account of such injury or illness, *whether by suit, settlement or otherwise*" (CP 454, emphasis added), irrespective of whether the injury or illness was caused by a "negligent third party" (App. A ¶ 36):

[1]f the Injured Person is entitled to or does receive money from any source as a result of the events causing the injury or illness, including but not limited to any liability insurance or uninsured/underinsured motorist funds, GHO's Medical Expenses are secondary, not primary.

(CP 454, emphasis added)

The Court of Appeals misinterpreted the language "as a result of the events causing the injury" (App. A ¶ 36, emphasis in original) in the policy to require that a negligent third party cause the injury. The "event" that caused Mr. Coon's infection and subsequent amputation was the surgery performed at the Clinic; nothing in the policy requires that "event" be the result of negligence. It is thus immaterial that "everyone . . . involved in this litigation ha[s] been unable to develop a viable theory of liability against any entity." (App. A ¶ 37) This Court should accept review and hold Group Health need not prove "that the Coons have a nonspeculative claim against a tortfeasor" (App. A ¶ 37) in order to enforce the provisions of its health insurance contract.

b. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Thiringer* and *Cook*.

Generally, an insurer is "substituted to the rights of the insured and pursue[s] recovery directly from the tortfeasor or, when the insured recovers from the tortfeasor, [is] reimbursed from that recovery." Paulsen v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 78 Wn. App. 665, 668, 898 P.2d 353 (1995), rev. denied, 128 Wn.2d 1010 (1996). However, an insurer "can recover only the excess which the insured has received from the wrongdoer, remaining after the insured is fully compensated for his loss," as a "party suffering compensable injury is entitled to be made whole but should not be allowed to duplicate his recovery." Thiringer, 91 Wn.2d at 219-20 (emphasis added).

Thiringer is based entirely on a third-party tortfeasor being "responsible in law" for the insured's injury. Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 412. Where, as here, there is no legally responsible "wrongdoer" from which an insured party "is entitled to be made whole," Thiringer, 91 Wn.2d at 220, however, an insurer need not demonstrate that its insured has been fully compensated prior to enforcing a contractual right to reimbursement, as Division One correctly recognized in Cook v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co., 121 Wn. App. 844, 90 P.3d 1154 (2004). Thiringer "protect[s] an insured's right to full compensation," "[b]ut when the insured has no basis in tort or

contract for a recovery then *Thiringer* does not apply." 121 Wn. App. at 848-49.

In Cook, USAA paid the Cooks their policy limits under both a homeowners and a renter's insurance policy after a fire started in a gas water heater exhaust flue. After subsequently losing their negligence lawsuit against the company that installed the flue, the Cooks sought a portion of the funds that USAA had obtained settling with the defendants, arguing that under Thiringer USAA was not entitled to retain any subrogation settlement funds until the Cooks were "fully compensated." Division One affirmed dismissal of the insureds' claims against USAA, recognizing that the "Thiringer full compensation rule has never been applied in situations where there was no liable third party." Cook, 121 Wn. App. at 848. Because "the Cooks did not suffer compensable injury, they bear the risk of loss." Cook, 121 Wn. App. at 849.

Similarly here, the Coons did not suffer a "compensable injury" implicating *Thiringer's* "made whole" rule. A compensable injury is "an invasion of a legally protected interest," "caused by conduct of such a character as to make it tortious," which "would entitle the person suffering the invasion to maintain an action of tort." *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 7 cmt. a (1965); *Gunnier v*.

Yakima Heart Center, Inc., P.S., 134 Wn.2d 854, 859, 953 P.2d 1162 (1998) (negligence action arises "at the time of the alleged wrongful act or omission causing the injury"). Here, however, the Coons admit that they could not have sued the Clinic, because there is no evidence that the Clinic was negligent (CP 285, 354); Division One likewise recognized that the Coons did not have a "nonspeculative claim" against the Clinic, as "everyone" has "been unable to develop a viable theory of liability against any entity" in this case. (App. A ¶ 37)

Division One erred in abandoning *Cook* and holding that *Thiringer* limits the right to reimbursement under a health insurance policy in the absence of a "judicial decision absolving" a tortfeasor of liability.¹ (App. A ¶ 42) The Court of Appeals' decision is both illogical and internally inconsistent. Under Division One's reasoning, a contractual right to reimbursement is unenforceable unless a "liable tortfeasor" exists. Yet in order to recover any

¹ This holding also conflicts with *Loc Thien Truong v. Allstate Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 151 Wn. App. 195, 201, ¶ 11, 211 P.3d 430 (2009), which rejected an insured's argument that he was "entitled to go to trial" to have a judicial determination of whether or not he had been fully compensated by a settlement with a third-party tortfeasor before being required to reimburse PIP payments.

damages, the nonbreaching party must produce a "judicial decision" absolving the tortfeasor of all liability. (App. A ¶¶ 36, 42)

It is Division One, not Group Health, that "is taking contradictory positions." (App. A ¶ 34) Group Health is not attempting to "avoid application of the equities advanced by *Thiringer* merely by asserting that the alleged tortfeasor had no tort liability." (App. A ¶ 42) Instead, it is the Coons who refuse to reimburse Group Health for benefits on the grounds they have not been "made whole" by a nonexistent tortfeasor. In a case where the Coons received \$2 million even though "everyone" admits there was "truly" a zero percent chance that the Clinic was liable for Mr. Coon's injury (CP 354), they refuse to comply with their health insurance policy. The Court of Appeals' published decision blessing that reasoning conflicts with *Mahler*, *Thiringer*, and the "made whole" policies underlying those cases.

2. The Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts with *Tran* and *Pilgrim*, wrongly expanding *Tripp's* narrow UIM holding to contractual reimbursement of medical expenses paid by a health insurer. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4)).

Under the plain language of its policy, Group Health had a right to seek 100% reimbursement from the Coons for their undisputed breach of contract. The Court of Appeals disregarded

this plain language in its published decision to impose an additional requirement of prejudice based on a flawed interpretation of this Court's decision in *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Tripp*, 144 Wn.2d 1, 25 P.3d 997 (2001). This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) because the Court of Appeals' decision contravenes fundamental contract principles, conflicts with *Tran v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 214, 961 P.2d 358 (1998), and *Pilgrim v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 89 Wn. App. 712, 950 P.2d 479 (1997) by erroneously extending *Tripp* beyond the narrow realm of UIM coverage, and raises a matter of substantial public interest: whether in a non-UIM case where coverage is not in question, a health insurer must prove prejudice before seeking reimbursement for medical benefits paid under the policy.

a. The Court of Appeals violated fundamental contract principles by rewriting unambiguous contractual language.

Washington courts "construe insurance policies as contracts," *Quadrant Corp. v. American States Ins. Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 165, 171, ¶ 10, 110 P.3d 733 (2005), and "may not modify clear and unambiguous language in an insurance policy." *West Am. Ins. Co. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 80 Wn.2d 38, 44, 491 P.2d 641

(1971). Division One disregarded these "well settled" principles, *Quadrant Corp.*, 154 Wn.2d at 171, ¶ 10, by requiring Group Health to "establish[] by undisputed facts any prejudice caused" by the Coons' undisputed breach of contract prior to seeking reimbursement under the policy. (App. A ¶ 30)

The health insurance policy clearly and unambiguously prohibited the Coons from doing anything "to prejudice GHO's subrogation and reimbursement rights." (CP 454) In particular, the Coons were required to "promptly notify GHO of any tentative settlement with a third party" and to "not settle a claim without protecting GHO's interest." (CP 454) The policy also plainly and unequivocally set forth Group Health's remedy in the event of a breach:

If the Injured Person fails to cooperate fully with GHO in recovery of GHO's Medical Expenses, the Injured Person shall be responsible for directly reimbursing GHO for 100% of GHO's Medical Expenses.

(CP 454)

The Coons breached their duties under the contract as a matter of law by settling with the Clinic without notifying Group Health or protecting its interests. (CP 516; App. A ¶ 30) The Coons then disbursed the settlement funds in violation of Group Health's equitable lien. (CP 281, 455) Because the Coons "fail[ed] to

cooperate fully with GHO in recovery of GHO's Medical Expenses," they are "responsible for directly reimbursing GHO for 100% of GHO's Medical Expenses" under the plain language of the policy. (CP 454) The Court of Appeals erred in not enforcing the parties' unambiguous contract as written.

b. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Tran* and *Pilgrim* by misapplying *Tripp* beyond its narrow focus of UIM coverage.

The Court of Appeals' published decision also conflicts with this Court's decision in *Tran* and its own decision in *Pilgrim*, misapplying this Court's decision in *Tripp* to require Group Health establish prejudice as a prerequisite to enforcing its contractual remedy for the Coons' breach. (App. A¶30)

An insurer must prove prejudice only in insurance coverage cases where the insurer's payment is conditioned upon the insured's satisfaction of policy requirements. *Tran*, 136 Wn.2d at 228-29; *Pilgrim*, 89 Wn. App. at 724. "By contrast, courts refuse to analyze prejudice in cases involving types of clauses other than those involving the handling of claims." *Pilgrim*, 89 Wn. App. at 724. This is not a coverage case. The insurance contract provided coverage for medical expenses, and Group Health undisputedly paid Mr. Coon's medical expenses. Neither *Tran* nor *Pilgrim* require an insurer who

has already provided coverage to prove prejudice in order to enforce its contractual remedy for a breach. *See Tran*, 136 Wn.2d at 229-30 ("State Farm needed to establish only that Tran's failure to produce these items *prejudiced its ability to determine coverage*") (emphasis added).

In *Tripp*, also a coverage case, Liberty sought a declaratory judgment that its insureds had waived the right to UIM coverage by failing to notify Liberty that they settled with the third-party tortfeasor after a car accident. Analyzing the coverage issue, this Court held that "an insured's failure to give its insurer notice of a tentative settlement with a tortfeasor will not reduce a UIM carrier's obligation to pay UIM benefits to its insured unless the insurer can show that it was prejudiced, and then only to the extent it was prejudiced, by the insured's actions." *Tripp*, 144 Wn.2d at 17.2

² Liberty also argued that the Tripps "were obligated to reimburse it for the PIP benefits it had paid them because the Tripps released Liberty's subrogation claim against the tortfeasor." *Tripp*, 144 Wn.2d at 8. This Court held that "a PIP insured cannot be required to reimburse the insurer unless and until the insured is fully compensated." *Tripp*, 144 Wn.2d at 21 (emphasis added, citing *Thiringer*, 91 Wn.2d at 219). Here, the Coons were not PIP insureds, the Clinic was not a tortfeasor, and *Thiringer*'s "full compensation" or "made whole" rule is inapplicable for the reasons argued in the previous section of this petition.

Tripp does not hold that "the law provides the company a remedy only if it can show prejudice" "[w]hen an insured breaches an insurance contract by failing to give the insurance company notice of a settlement." (App. 12 ¶ 30) This Court instead grounded its holding in Tripp on the public policy underlying UIM coverage: allowing an insured's "violation of the notice settlement clause to automatically preclude UIM coverage" would afford the UIM insurer a windfall and "would be inconsistent with the requirement that insureds be provided with that 'second layer of floating protection." Tripp, 144 Wn.2d at 17. For this reason alone, Tripp requires an insurer to "prove that it was prejudiced by the settlement" in order to be "relieved of its obligation to provide UIM coverage." 144 Wn.2d at 17.

None of this Court's reasons for imposing a prejudice requirement in *Tripp* exist here. First, Group Health's reimbursement claim is a remedy arising from the Coons' breach of the parties' contract for health care benefits that Group Health provided, not UIM coverage. UIM coverage is a "creature" of public policy "that every insurer writing automobile policies within the state must, by law, offer their insureds." *Sherry*, 160 Wn.2d at 622, ¶ 19. Accordingly, "[i]t is important to remember that UIM is unique

among insurance"; its "purpose and focus are very narrow." *Sherry* v. *Financial Indem. Co.*, 160 Wn.2d 611, 620, ¶ 15, 160 P.3d 31 (2007). Division One clearly failed to heed this Court's "reminder" in *Sherry* when it expanded *Tripp* beyond the "narrow" focus of UIM coverage.

Second, unlike in every UIM coverage case, there is no liable third-party tortfeasor here. UIM coverage exists because of a "strong public policy favoring full compensation of innocent automobile accident victims who must rely on their own UIM coverage." *Brown v. Snohomish County Physicians Corp.*, 120 Wn.2d 747, 758, 845 P.2d 334 (1993); *Blackburn v. Safeco Ins. Co.*, 115 Wn.2d 82, 87, 794 P.2d 1259 (1990) (by "protecting the innocent victim of an auto accident, UIM insurance provides a source of indemnification when the tortfeasor does not provide adequate protection"). There is no similarly "strong" public policy of protecting an insured who is not "legally entitled" to recover damages in the absence of a "negligent tortfeasor."

Division One's reasoning is, once again, internally inconsistent and illogical, requiring Group Health to demonstrate prejudice from the Coons' breach and allowing the Coons to retain \$2 million, free of Group Health's contractual reimbursement rights,

on a claim that had no legal validity. Group Health paid \$372,634 for Mr. Coon's medical expenses; it never sought to be "relieved of its obligation to provide" coverage to the Coons. *Tripp*, 144 Wn.2d at 17. Nor did Group Health seek to be excused from future performance under the policy. Rather, Group Health seeks reimbursement as damages for the Coons' breach, as it was entitled to do without demonstrating prejudice under the Coon's health insurance policy.

E. Conclusion.

This Court should accept review and reinstate the trial court's order requiring the Coons to reimburse Group Health pursuant to the terms of their health insurance policy.