A. Introduction. 

The Court of Appeals reversed summary judgment and remanded 

for determination of fact questions. It held that the Coons presented non

speculative evidence supporting inferences that there was a settlement of a 

disputed claim of liability against The Everett Clinic (herein "the Clinic") 

and that Group Health had not met its burden of establishing that the 

Coons were made whole. Alternatively, it held that if no third party was 

responsible for the injuries, Group Health had no right of subrogation to 

amounts received by the Coons. 

B. Statement of the Case. 

The Coons settled a disputed claim of liability for injuries and 

damages sustained because a perioperative fungal infection resulted in an 

above-knee amputation. (CP 120) A claim was submitted to the Clinic, 

based largely on a theory of res ipsa loquitur, and the Clinic denied the 

claim. (CPI 20) The parties then agreed to engage in a pre-litigation 

mediation, and this resulted in a settlement for $2,000,000. (CP 254) 

The Group Health contract provides that it has "subrogation and 

reimbursement rights." The relevant provisions of the contract are 

attached as Exhibit A. Group Health contends that the subrogation 

provisions do not apply because there was no third party responsible for 

the damages suffered by the Coons. (Pet. p. 7) It contends that Group 



Health can assert a "contractual right of reimbursement" rather than a 

subrogation claim and can thus avoid both the "made whole" provision in 

the contract and the "made whole" doctrine found in Thiringer v. 

American Motors Ins. Co., 91 Wn.2d 215 , 588 P.2d 191 (1970). (Pet. p. 

7) 

The Court of Appeals reversed the summary judgment because the 

Group Health contract made its recovery dependent on the existence of a 

third-party tortfeasor. (App. A 1 37) It further held that there were fact 

issues regarding whether the Coons were made whole. (App. A 1 43) 

C. Argument Why Review Should be Denied. 

1. Group Health ' s interpretation of its contract of insurance is 

nonsensical and would lead to absurd results. There are fact issues 

regarding the liability of the Clinic for the injuries and summary judgment 

was inappropriate. 

Group Health contends that it has a "contractual right of 

reimbursement" that applies to any funds received by the Coons as a result 

of Mr. Coon' s injuries regardless of the source of the funds. (Pet. p. 7) If 

Group Health's interpretation of its contract were adopted, it would mean 

that if Mr. Coon received money from a disability policy to compensate 

him for the amputation and consequent disability, Group Health would 

have a claim to be reimbursed for the medical expenses it has paid. It 
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would also mean that if friends of the Coon family started a Go-Fund-Me 

site to raise money to help the Coons through their ordeal, Group Health 

would have a right to reimbursement from those funds. It would even 

have a claim on any money provided to the Coons by family or church 

members to assist them through the financial and personal problems 

resulting from the infection and amputation. 

In a motion for summary judgment, all facts and inferences are to 

be construed in favor of the non-moving party. "In ruling on a motion for 

summary judgment, the court must consider the material evidence and all 

reasonable inferences therefrom most favorably for the non-moving party 

and, when so considered, if reasonable people might reach difference 

conclusions, the motion should be denied." Jacobsen v. State , 89 Wn.2d 

101 , 108 (1977), 569 P.2d 1153. 

There is a strong inference that the Clinic felt it had potential 

liability for the injuries, proposed a mediation to resolve the claim, and 

required the Coons to sign a settlement agreement releasing all claims 

against the Clinic. (CP 254) 

Group Health' s strained reading of the contract would lead to 

absurd results. See Morgan v. Prudential Ins. Co., 86 Wn.2d, 549 P.2d 

1193 (1970): " [t]he contract should be given a practical and reasonable 

rather than a literal interpretation; it should not be given a strained or 
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forced construction which would lead to an extension or restriction of the 

policy beyond what is fairly within its terms, or which would lead to an 

absurd conclusion, or render the policy nonsensical or ineffective." 

Read as a whole, it is clear that the subrogation provisions in the 

contract relate to recoveries from third parties resulting from a claim that 

the third party was a cause of the injury. This view is buttressed by the 

fact that the last portion of the cited contract provision parallels the 

Thiringer made whole doctrine. The clear intent of Group Health was to 

include the made whole concept in its contract. 

If there are conflicting or ambiguous provisions in the Group 

Health contract, it must be construed in favor of the insured, not the 

insurance company that drafted the contract. "When a clause in an 

insurance policy is ambiguous, it will be construed in a manner most 

favorable to the insured regardless of the insurer ' s intent. . . . In 

construing the language of an insurance contract, we will examine the 

contract as a whole and if, on the face of the contract, two reasonable and 

fair interpretations are possible, an ambiguity exist." State Farm 

Insurance v. Emerson, 102 Wn.2d 477, 484, 687 P.2d 1139 (1084). 

The Emerson court cited Morgan v. Prudential Ins Co., 86 Wn.2d, 

549 P.2d 1193 (1970), which held that " [t]he contract should be given a 

practical and reasonable rather than a literal interpretation; it should not be 
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given a strained or forced construction which would lead to an extension 

or restriction of the policy beyond what is fairly within its terms, or which 

would lead to an absurd conclusion, or render the policy nonsensical or 

ineffective." Citing Philadelphia Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Grandview, 

42 Wn.2d 357, 255 P.2d 540 (1953); 44 C.J.S. Insurance§ 296 (1945). 

2. The Court of Appeals applied well-established legal 

principles in determining that the "made whole" doctrine applied. 

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Group Health must meet 

both the requirements of its insurance contact as well as the common law 

made-whole doctrine before it can share in the Coon' s settlement. The 

following portion of the decision succinctly summarizes the basis for the 

Court' s ruling: 

"The posture of the Coons, the Clinic, and Group Health is similar 
to that of an injured party, an alleged tortfeasor, and the injured 
party ' s insurance company in many personal injury settlements 
involving contest liability. In the absence of a judicial decision 
absolving the Clinic ofliability, it is not clear that the weakness of 
the Coons ' claims provides a basis for refusing to apply the 
Thiringer "made whole" rule." An insurance company that is 
pursuing its right of subrogation after settlement of a contested 
liability case should not be permitted to avoid application of the 
equities advanced by Thiringer merely by asserting that the alleged 
tortfeasor had no tort liability ... " (App. A ,r 42) 

The ruling by the Court of Appeals is entirely consistent with the 

underlying principles enunciated in Maher v. Szucs, 135 Wn.2d 598, 957 

P.2d 632 (1998), Thiringer v. American Motors Ins. Co. , 91 Wn.2d 215 , 
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588 P.2d 191 (1978), and Cookv. USAA Cas. Ins. Co., 121 Wn.App., 844, 

90 Pac.2d 1154 (2004 ): the made-whole doctrine broadly applies 

whenever an insurer seeks to share in a recovery made by a policy holder 

from a third party. It is possible to cite factual details and differences in 

the many cases applying the made-whole doctrine, as Group Health does 

in its Petition for Review, but the decision by the Court of Appeals in the 

instant case applies the widely-accepted made whole doctrine mandated 

by Thiringer. 

D. Any Violation of the Insurance Contact Did Not Prejudice or 
Cause Damages to Group Health. 

Group Health contends that the Coons violated the insurance 

contract by not notifying it of the proposed settlement. (Pet. p. 15) It 

offers no explanation for how this has prejudiced Group Health and, 

indeed, it has not prejudiced it. The Court of Appeals correctly held that 

for Group Health to establish prejudice under a claim for breach of 

contract, it must show causation and damages. That ruling is consistent 

with the rationale expressed in Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Tripp , 144 Wn.2d, 

25 P.3d 997 (2001). That case required the insurer to prove some 

prejudice resulting from the narrow breach of a notice provision. The 

Court of Appeals in the instant case upheld fundamental contract 

principles requiring a claimant to prove causation and damages resulting 
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from a breach. 

E. Conclusion. 

The decision by the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with any 

Supreme Court decision or published Court of Appeals decision. It does 

not raise a significant question of law under the Constitutions of the 

United States or the State of Washington. It does not involve an issue of 

substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme 

Court. 

The decision simply applied the well-established principles 

underlying the "made whole" doctrine and held that there were issues of 

fact that precluded summary judgment from being granted by the trial 

court. This Court should not accept review of the decision by the Court of 

Appeals.